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Erected 1871-73 in the historic northern New Mexico town of Las Vegas, 
the Presbyterian Mission Church is a 100'x25' pitched-roofed building made 
of adobe bricks covered with adobe colored plaster. Situated three blocks 
south of the original Las Vegas plaza (National Register 12/74), the church 
is in a quiet residential section, one of the town's oldest but now some­ 
what deteriorated. According to the deed recorded when the church property 
was first purchased in 1871, the original east boundary was an aceguia 
(ditch), which irrigated the vegetable gardens then found throughout the 
neighborhood. Today few gardens are grown and the acequia, although still 
evident, "is no longer used, but the' closely clustered adobe and frame 
houses facing narrow streets remain to recall another era. North of the 
church on the same lot is a large one-story building which replaced an 
adobe structure originally used as a church school. Of recent construction, 
it is still owned by the congregation and is used for church supported 
activities but is not included in this nomination.

Located at the corner of Chavez and Socorro Streets, the church property 
is enclosed by a low retaining wall made of indigenous brown sandstone. 
Facing east, the church entrance is reached by two short runs of stone 
steps and a flagstone walk which lead to a porch floored with the same 
material. The walk bisects a narrow lawn landscaped with several elm trees 
and lilac bushes. Rising over the stone floor of the porch and dominating 
the facade, a gabled pediment supported by four square columns carries the 
roof line forward to form a massive portico. An early attempt at a 
Classical temple front, the portico is said to be unique in New Mexico arch- 
tecture of the Territorial period. A rose window is centered in the :/ 
pediment which is covered with lap siding painted white. The columns were 
made by nailing four boards around timbers and embellishing the tops with 
mitered segments which form capitals. Agreements signed in October, 1871 
indicate that the carpentry work throughout the building was executed by 
craftsman David H. Powell who received $650.00 for his services.

Powell's entry is framed by simple pilasters capped by a cornice with 
a dentil design, a motif seen again just under the mullioned transom over 
the double doors. The paneling in the doors is repeated in the deep 
reveals which accommodate the entry to the 30" thick adobe walls. Fenes- 
tration originally consisted in five double-hung windows with 9 over 9 
lights topped by pedimented lintels in both the north and south walls. 
Those to the south remain unchanged but two doorways have been installed on 
the north in recent years to make the building conform to modern fire codes 
To counter some structural problems caused by occasional excessive 
accumulations of moisture, the north wall has been reinforced by three 
stone buttresses. In 1970, during a general rehabilitation, a concrete pad 
was poured in an effort to eliminate the same problem.

The church was first roofed with wood shingles manufactured at the 
nearby village of Tecolote and delivered in Las Vegas by Pierre Lesperance. 
During the 1970 refurbishment it was covered with a modern red composition 
material. A tall belfry, visible over much of the town, towers high above 
the building. Although part of the original construction, it is somewhat
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Presbyterian Mission Church, cons true feed.-in Las, yegas, New Mexico 
1871-73, was the ,first Protestant Church built in that important 19th 
century commercial center and is the oldest Protestant church building 
remaining in.New Mexico. At mid-century, Las Vegas was exploiting its 
strategic location on the Santa Fe Trail .to achieve economic dominance over 
a wide area of the Territory. The erection of the impressive Presbyterian 
Church, which resembled many houses of worship in the East and mid-West, 
exemplified the growth of Anglo influence in the original Hispanic-Roman 
Catholic community. Although the building's imposing portico and tall bel­ 
fry are derived from architectural styles which the newcomers brought with 
them, the massive walls, made of adobe bricks covered with adobe plaster, 
were put up in the traditional New Mexico manner. The church, thus, 
combined elements of both cultures and represented the advent of new ideas 
into New Mexico in both an architectural and religious sense.

The first permanent settlement in the Las Vegas area was made during the 
period of Mexican administration in New Mexico by twenty-nine landless 
families from the nearby Pecos Valley community of San Miguel del Vado. On 
April 6, 1835 the new settlers were placed in possession of a community land 
grant on the Gallinas iRiver by Alcalde Mayor Jos£ de Jestfs Ulibarri y DurSn 
as ordered by Governor Francisco Sarracino. Most of the same area was later 
claimed by the heirs of Luis Maria C de Baca as having been granted by 
Mexican authorities in 1820 to Baca who attempted to establish a ranch near 
the Gallinas .but fiadnd the area untenable because of Indian! £fepre.dtatiQns. 
After lengthy litigation the conflict between the heirs and the residents of 
the Las Vegas Grant was resolved in 1858 by the Surveyor General of New 
Mexico in favor of the grantees with the Baca claimants being compensated 
with other lands elsewhere.

The 1835 settlers immediately began construction of a plaza on the west 
bank of the Gallinas which, because of its favorable situation, soon became 
an important stopping place on the Santa Fe Trail. On August 15, 1846 U.S. 
troops under Brigadier-General Stephen Watts Kearny, following the famous 
trade route, marched into Las Vegas. From the roof-top of the Alcalde's 
residence on the plaza, now the Dice Apartments, Kearny officially pro-: > 
claimed U.S. sovereignty over the region. In 1861 during the short lived 
Confederate invasion of New Mexico, Las Vegas served briefly as the Terri­ 
torial Capitol when Texas troops occupied Santa Fe. As the 19th century 
progressed, the town entered a period of population growth and commercial 
prosperity which accelerated with the coming of the Atchison, Topeka and

(See Continuation Sheet Page 1)
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out of proportion with the structure's design, but exhibits some inter­ 
esting flourishes in the intricate carpentry of the woodwork. The bell, 
which weighs over 800 Ibs. was manufactured in Troy, New York and was 
transported by wagon train from the railhead at Granada, Colorado. 
During the 1880s it was moved for a short time to the new Presbyterian 
Church erected in East Las Vegas but the tower in that structure was not 
capable of supporting the bell's great weight and it was returned to its 
original location.

Access to the belfry is provided by a flight of steep stairs rising 
from the north end of a narrow vestibule in the rear of the church. Two 
small doors open from the vestibule into the cavernous 55' long nave which 
is now devoid of furnishings except for a simple wooden pulpit. The pews 
were recently given by the congregation to another Las Vegas institution, 
the New Mexico State Hospital. Composed of brown tongue and groove boards, 
the high ceiling contrasts with the light blue plastered walls which have 
a 3' band of wainscoting at their base. Covered with common fir flooring, 
also painted brown, the room's floor is elevated 1' at the west end to 
form the chancel. The west end of the building is occupied by two class­ 
rooms, 34'x25' and 13'x25', originally used by both the congregation 
Sunday school and the mission school next door, which have been reparti- 
tioned recently to serve as dormitories and apartments. In the 1970 
rehabilitation, a small addition was put on west of the classrooms which 
serves as a workshop. Although the congregation is sometimes hard pressed 
to provide adequate funding for maintenance, the old church remains in use 
and its condition is good.

ji p
ff Santa Fe Railroad in 1879. To the dismay of merchants doing business on 

the plaza, the tracks and depot were established across the Gallinas a 
mile east of the original town. A whole new community, predominantly 
Anglo in character, sprang up around the station and rail sidings causing 
a shift in economic and social activity which resulted in ill feelings 
persisting for many years.

Presbyterian missionary activity in Las Vegas began October 24, 1869 
when the Reverend John A. Annin, his wife and young son stepped down from 
the westbound stage at the Exchange Hotel to conclude an exhausting 
journey from New York via St. Louis and Topeka. A graduate of both 
Princeton College and Princeton Theological Seminary, Annin had served 
in various pastorates in the East before seeking a new challenge in 
missionary work, first in Minnesota and then in New Mexico. His call to 
Las Vegas was supported and subsidized by the Santa Fe Auxiliary

(See Continuation Sheet Page 2)
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Association, a women's missionary group based in Auburn, New York, which 
proviced Annin with encouragement and travel expenses. Soon after his 
arrival, the new pastor was greeted by the town's leading Protestant, 
Jose" Ynes Perea, the scion of one of the Territory's most prominent 
Hispanic families. Because educational opportunities were limited in New 
Mexico, Perea's father had sent him East for his schooling where he had 
been exposed to Protestant doctrine and converted to Presbyterianism. 
After traveling widely as a young man, he had eventually settled in Las 
Vegas where he operated a mercantile establishment and a large sheep ranch 
on the vast plains east of the town along the Canadian River.

In March, 1870 Annin organized the Presbyterian Church of Las Vegas 
with a congregation of twenty-one members. Jose* Ynes Perea was elected 
"ruling-elder" of the new group. At first, services were held in a hall 
near the southeast corner of the plaza belonging to German-Jewish merchant 
May Hays. Believing that education was the key to the eventual success of 
his mission, Annin also started a school during the same month with an 
opening enrollment of four pupils which included the pastor's son, 
William. Before classes were terminated the following August, however, 
seventeen students had attended for various lengths of time. One year 
later the new congregation purchased from George Chavez and his wife 
Maria Marta Lopez for $2,250.00 a 175'xl58 f lot with a large adobe house 
on its north side. Annin's growing school was established in the house 
and arrangements were made to erect a new church building. The structure 
was completed and ready for use in 1873 but, characteristically, Rev. 
Annin postponed its dedication for four years until all debts were paid.

During the 1870s Annin traveled on horseback over a wide area around 
Las Vegas carrying the Presbyterian gospel to the Hispanic people of the 
countryside. Although hampered by his meager knowledge of Spanish, his 
early efforts met with success, but in 1874 the situation changed. In 
the summer of that year a delegation of the Roman Catholic Society of 
Jesus established themselves in Las Vegas. One of their main objectives 
was to combat the heretical influence of John Annin and his growing 
Protestant Church. Fluent in Spanish and popular with the townspeople, 
it was not long before the Jesuits were able to recapture a large portion 
of Annin's congregation and return most of his students to their tradi­ 
tional faith. The Jesuits also encouraged a boycott of Perea's store 
which caused considerable economic hardship for the town's leading 
convert. Some fifteen years later, Annin described the Jesuits and their 
"Counter Reformation" thus, "Learned and eloquent they were . . . They 
came to Las Vegas and almost entirely broke up my work." By 1880, both 
Annin and Perea had become discouraged and left Las Vegas. The latter
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had been ordained as a Presbyterian minister, married a mission teacher 
from Pennsylvania and began to work among the Indians of the Pueblo of 
Je"mez in central New Mexico.

Annin's first replacement Rev. Josiah McLain remained only a few weeks 
and was succeeded by Rev. John C. Eastman who came to Las Vegas from 
Greenville, Ohio in June. Eastman decided to concentrate his activities 
among the Anglo population of the burgeoning community of East Las Vegas 
across the Gallinas. The congregation authorized construction of a new 
church on Douglas Avenue which was dedicated October 16, 1881 with appro­ 
priate ceremonies. The move divided Las Vegas Presbyterians on ethnic 
lines, however, creating a schism which continued for eighty years. At 
the old location the school was maintained intermittently until 1896 when 
it was moved to Albuquerque and was incorporated into Menaul School, an 
institution which has continued to the present. In 1884 a Spanish 
speaking congregation was established in the old church building under the 
leadership of bilingual John Whitlock who was extremely active in 
missionary activity in the Hispanic villages of the area. It was not 
until 1960 that the two Presbyterian groups came together again selecting 
the newer building in East Las Vegas as their headquarters.

Although services are seldom held in the old church building since 
the reunification of the congregation, the property has continued to play 
an important role in Las Vegas. The school building next door was first 
remodeled and later replaced by a new structure which now houses the 
Robert G. Plagge Memorial Center, an institution devoted to the care and 
treatment of alcoholism. The Sunday school rooms in the rear of the 
church have been repartitioned and now provide a haven for transients and 
battered wives and children. Despite financial problems characteristic 
of many church organizations today the pastor and congregation of the Las 
Vegas Presbyterian Church are convinced that the old mission building 
will continue not only as an historic landmark but as a center of signi­ 
ficant activity in the community.
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approximately 175' following a line midway between the church and the 
Rehabilitation Center to the north to its intersection with the west 
side of Chavez Street; thence to the point of beginning.


